
THE YALE LAW JOURNAL
EDITORIAL BOARD

EUGENE V. RosTow

Editor-in-Cldef

SEYmot KRIEGER, Comment Editor Louis Loss, Note Editor

HENRY W. RIGBY, Comment Editor OscAR M. RUEDHAUSEN, Note Editor

BERuA E. BRANDES, ROBERT I. STEVENSON, Business Manager
Article and Book Review Editor

HERBERT L. ABRONS GORDON L. F.Es ANDREW Y. ROGERS

JACQUIN D. BnmrAN RAY B. HOUSTON LUTHER E. SMITH, JR.

AmoRY H. BRADFORD ROGER S. RANDOLPH CHARLES J. TANEN3AUM

MYRON L. CARLsoN SIDNEY H. WALL

Subscription price $4.50 per year 8o cents per umober

. Canadian subscription price $5.00 per year; Foreign, $5.25 per year ,

Yale Law Journal Company, Inc., Box 40A, Yale Station, New Haven, Coml.

MARKET MANIPULATION AND THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT

THE PRICING of securities traded on the organized exchanges is affected

by the forces of simple competition only after they have been refracted

through the machinery of the exchanges, a point at which artificial stimuli

can have great immediate effects upon security quotations. Manipulation' is

the generic term used to identify the employment of such stimuli for the
primary purpose of controlling the prices or the volume of transactions of

securities traded on the exchanges. It is urged that deliberate efforts to

stabilize security prices are justifiable when carried on for certain purposes,2

as when syndicates ,engaged in the primary distribution of securities "peg"

the market during the process,3 or when banking houses or brokerage firms

1. See generally, Berle, Liability for Stock Market Manipulation (1931) 31 COL. L.
REV. 264; Mathias, Manipulative Practices and the Securities Exchange Act (1936)
3 U. oF PITTSBURGH L. REV. 7; Moore and Wiseman, Market 2fanipulation and the Ex-
change Act (1934) 2 U. oF CHI. L. Rzv. 46; Herlands, Crinnal Law Aspects of the
Securities Exchange Act of .r934 '(1934) 21 VA. L. Rmv. 139; Seligman, Problems Under
the Securities Exchange Act (1934) 21 VA. L. REv. 1; Comment (1934) 34 COL. L.
REv. 500.

2. For a comprehensive classification of manipulative activity, see TWENTIETH
CENTURY FUND, THE SECURITY MARSETS (1935) 444 et seq.

3. Support of the market has been considered indispensable in floating new issues
of securities. It has been said that there can be no objection where the issue is "properly
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SECURITIES MARKET MANIPULATION

undertake to guide stock prices for the avowed purpose of preventing ab-
normal deviations from "true" value, deviations, for example, which might
accompany the liquidation of a large block of securities.4 The necessity and
desirability of permitting the machinery of the exchanges to be utilized for
such stabilization, however, involve difficult questions of policy which can
ultimately be determined only after a more comprehensive study of facts than
has yet been made.

This comment will be concerned only with a second form of manipulative
activity in which individuals or groups of individuals control security price
fluctuations primarily for purposes of profit. Business men and others have
generally condemned such practices, and attributed serious economic con-
sequences to them, although there are no studies which ,show conclusively
over long periods how much manipulation affects the determination of the
price of capital or interferes otherwise with one of the underlying functions of
the Exchange.5 It may be, as some have contended, that manipulation is an
inevitable characteristic0 of a market where speculation is encouraged in
securities of which there is a limited supply, speculation itself being accepted
as a necessary part of the equipment of the capital market.7 The economic

priced" [Letter from the Pres. of the U. S. to the Chairman of the Committee on
Banldng and Currency, 73d Cong. 2d Sess., 1934, 8 (Roper-Dickinson Report)] but
a recent study has revealed that in a majority of cases the security has not been so
priced and its quotation has fallen with the removal of the syndicate's support. Steiner
and Lasdon, The Market Action of New Isstes-A Test of Syndicate Price Pegging
(1934) 12 HAv. Bus. REv. 339.

This stabilization is not to be confused with other manipulative practices associated
with the marketing of securities. Issues have been marketed directly through the
exchange by means of the methods discussed infra p. 626, and prices forced to extreme
levels in order to secure the greatest possible profit. This manipulation has also taken
the form of raising and pegging the price of comparable issues so that the syndicate
may ex act a higher price for its own offerings. See SEr. Raroir No. 1455, 73d Cong.
2d Sess. (1934) 100; Hrcxrim, VAT Mumrs SToc-: MAumrr PxucEs (1932) 127.

4. The total effect of this regularization of the market is questionable since sponsors
are said to hedge their stabilizing operations by taking the opposite stand in other
securities. See Hiciuzu,.L, op. cit. supra note 3, at 134. And like other forms of
manipulative activity which are considered to have a business justification it is subject
to abuse. See Harris v. United States, 48 F. (2d) 771, 776 (C.C.A. 9th, 1931)
(brokers selling worthless stock with claim that they werd sponsoring it).

5. These functions are stated to be (1) direction and facilitation of the flow of
capital into industry, (2) liquidity and continuity of prices, (3) adjustment of prices to
the market schedule of going interest rates and to "investment worth." Tim Szcun
MAucurs, op. cit. supra note 2, at 19 et seq.; Kmrlms, Tm; GEUimaL Tmon- or Ear-
PLOY ENT INTERzs Mm Mo= (1936) 150-164.

6. The extent of this activity is indicated by the fact that in 1929, 105 issues on
the New York Stock Exchange were subject to one or more manipulative operations.
From January, 1931 to August, 1933, 175 member firms of the Exchange participated
in such operations. Sta. RE. No. 1455, op. cit. .spra note 3, at 32.

7. Attempts have been made to show some economic justification for pool activ-
ities. Hearings before Committee on Banking and Cirricny purstant to Sen. Res. 84
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evidence is not persuasive for either view. But whatever the economics of
manipulation may be, it is widely regarded as undesirable business behavior
both in itself and at least in its short run consequences; for the distortion of
prices caused by manipulation 8 immediately injures those who rely on the
level of security prices for the flotation of securities and for the use of
securities as collateral, as well as those who were duped into purchasing
overpriced, or selling underpriced securities, and sustained direct losses when
the manipulative influence was withdrawn.9

Manipulation on a large scale has been carried on in the past largely by
syndicates commonly referred to as pools. 10 The practices of these syndicates
may be illustrated by a simplified composite picture whose segments have
been selected from typical- bull pools. The group first secures an option 1

to purchase at a price higher than the then market quotation a large block
of a stock which possesses actual or potential market appeal' 2 and an easily

(72d Cong. 1st Sess.) and Sen. Res. 56 and 97, 73d- Cong. 2d. Sess. (1934) 6616;
HUEBNER, THE STOCK MARKET (1922) 328, 329; SCHABACKER, STOCK MARKET T EORY
AND PRACrICE (1930) 571. But see SE1;. REP. No. 1455, op. cit. supra note 3, at 32;
MARSHALL, MONEY CREDIT AND COMMERCa E (1924) 93, 94; FryN, SEcuRrr SPrcu.A-
lioN (1934) 175 et seq.

8. Manipulative operations have clearly influenced the short time swing of the
market, and it is claimed that the long term trend has at times likewise. been affected.
DIcE, THE STOCK MAmE (1926) 452; FLYNN, SEcuRTY SPEcUI ATIOI (1934) 171.
But see HAILTo, THE STOCK MARK:Er BAROmETER (1922) 49.

9. Hearings before Subcommittee on Banking and Currency appointed Purstant to
H. R. Ris. 429 and 5o4, 62d Cong., 2d Sess. (1913) (Pujo Money Trust Investigation);
Hearings before Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce on H. R. 7852 and
H. R. 872o, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. (1934) 755.

10. Whatever evil results from pool operations flows from the pool's purposes and
devices and not from the pool structure as such; for the operations sometimes con-
sidered justifiable (see p. 624, mtpral are also generally conducted by syndicates. A
single individual with the requisite resources can pursue the same activity. Pujo Money'
Trust Investigation, op. cit. stpra note 9, at 874, 875.

11. The option is at the base of most pools for it permits large scale operations
with a minimum of risk. Between 1929 and 1933, 286 options were held by member
firms, member partners, and non-member partners of the New York Stock Exchange.
The Twentieth Century Fund's study showed that approximately one half the options
originate with the corporation, the others being derived from individuals not connected
with the corporation, other corporations, banks, and brokerage houses. While all options
of large blocks of stock serve as a temptation to manipulation, many are used legitimately
as compensation for promoters of new corporations and directors of going businesses.
Options are also used in the form of "puts" and "calls" as insurance by traders against
possible breaks in the market. The "put""is an option to sell, and the "call" an
option to buy, stock at a specified price within a specified period, Tn SEcUnRr
MARKETs/,op. cit. supra, note 2, at 450 et seq.

12. Since the success of the manipulative venture depends on the ability of the
operator to induce the public to purchase the security, the probabilities of a profitable
outcome are enhanced if the stock is one which may easily be played up to the trader's
imagination. Thus, the radio securities in 1929, the liquor stocks in 1933, and the

(Vol. 46: 624626



SECURITIES MARKET MANIPULATION

controllable floating supply.13 It is the task of the pool manager and operator
to raise the market price above the option price, and, if the supply on the
market remains constant,14 this can be accomplished only by increasing the

demand. The most effective manner of inducing others to purchase is to
have a favorable ticker tape record which indicates to prospective purchasers
that others consider the security to be underpricedY6 The manager opens
a number of accounts with various brokers and, fortified by a knowledge of
the condition of the market obtained from the book of a specialist,10 enters
both buying and selling orders with a preponderance of the former so that
the price is made to rise slowly upon an increasing volume of transactions.
In the cruder form of operation many of these transactions will be washed
sales in which the operator is both buyer and seller of the same stock; in
others known as matched orders he enters orders to sell with the knowledge
that some confederate is concomitantly entering orders to purchase the same
amount of stock at the same price.m 7 As the price slowly rises, a complex"
publicity apparatus is set into motion to aid the stimulation of demand: The
directors of the corporation whose stock is being manipulated, wbo may be
members of the pool, issue favorable, but not wholly true, statements con-
cerning the corporation's prospects; 18 brokers, likewise interested in the

aircraft securities in 1934 all lent themselves to manipulation. Cf. Dic, op. cit. mipra,
note 8, at 418, 419.

13. A security provides an admirable vehicle for the monopolistic control which
is the essence of manipulative operations since its supply is limited to the outstanding-
capitalization. However, it is necessary for the operator to control only the part
of this total supply known as the floating supply, or "that part of the outstanding
capitalization which is held for a speculative advance." [Bozm, SToCK Pnrcrs (1911)
68]. See HICKEmI, MANmuLATIo AND 2m = L.tamDsHrP (1930) 38 ct seq.

14. In actual practice the supply is diminished. The operator may drive dowm
the price to touch off stop-loss orders and cause weak holders of the stockl to sell,
thereby enabling him to purchase more readily. He also contracts with large holders
of the stock in order that their holdings may be kept off the market for a suitable
period of time. Thus, supply is decreased as well as demand stimulated, and the pool
attains its mark-up in price by attacking both sides of the market.

15. "After all is said and done, the greatest publicity agent in the wide vworld
is the ticker, and by far the best advertising medium is the tape." L-rara, REmr.r-
ISCENCES oF A SToCK OPnaAToR (1923) 247.

16. The specialist is a member of the exchange who executes orders in a particular
stock on the floor of the exchange for other brokers and dealers. By virtue of his
book in which limited orders are recorded he has reliable knowledge of the market
for his stock SEm. REP. No. 1455, op. cit. mipra note 3, at 23.

17. Matched orders and washed sales have long been forbiddea by the rules of
the New York Stock Exchange, but the same results have been obtained through simple
"buying and selling." In the Manhattan Electric Light Pool 91 accounts were opened
with 52 brokers, thus facilitating the buying policy as well as the placing of matched,
orders. See United States v. Brown, 79 F. (2d) 321, 323 (C. C. A. 2d, 1935).

18. The informed purchaser looks first to the corporation's financial condition and
prospects, When the pool in General Asphalt desired to distribute to the public the
stock which it. had accumulated, it had the corporation declare a dividend and continue
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operations, advise customers through market letters and customers' men to
purchase the stock; z9 subsidized tipster sheets and financial columnists in
the daily papers tell glowingly of the corporation's futtre; 20 "chisellers,"
"touts," and "wire-pluggers" are employed to disseminate false rumors of
increased earnings or-impending merger.21 As the market price passes the
option price, the operator exercises his option and, increasing his sales over
purchases, carefully unloads upon the public the optioned stock as well as
that acquired in the process of marking up the price.22 But the operator does
not necessarily rest with this gain. If he is able to distribute his holdings,
he may sell short, and the stock, priced at an uneconomically high level and
bereft of the pool's support, declines precipitately. As it approaches its normal
quotation the pool covers its short position, thereby profiting both from the
rise which it has engineered and the inevitable reaction.2 3

As a practical matter, it is inevitably difficult to trace the operations of
such a pool.2 4 A misrepresentation by a salesman in the direct sale of securities
to a purchaser may be apprehended with relative ease since the falsity of the
representation can be uncovered, and its source traced, without undue hard-
ship. But in the manipulation of security prices the misrepresentation consists
of a controlled price quotation which does not reflect the interplay of the
judgments of bona-fide sellers and buyers. Since security prices, sensitive
to many forces, constantly fluctuate even in the absence of manipulation, the
first measure in proving a case of manipulation is to determine which, if any,
of these fluctuations is being deliberately controlled by artificial devices.

This may be indicated by price and volume changes which are unusual in
view either of the normal trend of the particular stock or of the price move-
ments of other securities of the same general nature.25 It is then necessary

payments until the stock was distributed, although the corporation was losing money
at the time. SE. REP. No. 1455, op. cit. supra note 3, at 66, 67. See also DicE, op. cit.
supra note 8, at 425.

19. A letter of this kind is quoted in full in Harris v. United States, 48 F. (2d)
771, 776 (C.C.A. 9th, 1931).

20. For accounts of these practices, see People v. Rice, 221 App. Div. 443, 448,

223 N. Y. Supp. 566, 571 (1st Dep't 1927) ; Stephens v. Wallace, 106 N. ). Eq. 352,
353, 150 Atl. 835, 836 (1930).

21. See HMcmKELL, op. cit. supra note 3, at 58 et seq.
22. This is the most difficult part of the operator's work and is said to require

"great generalship." Many thousands of shares may be purchased and sold in order
to unload a few thousand. Often the pool is unable to distribute its entire holdings, and
the remaining portion is distributed to its members. DicE, op. cit. .supra note 8, at 431.

23. FowLsR, INTRODUcTIo" To WAL. STREET (1930) 142.
24. Pool operations assume a variety of forms and the illustration presented in

the text is merely one type of bull pool. Another form of operation consists of driving
down the price in a short-selling bear-raid. A more subtle type of manipulation is
confined to control of quotations on the exchange in order to set the price at which
securities are being sold over-the-counter. See p. 631 infra.

25. ScHABAcKm, op. cit. supra note 7, at 579 et seq.

[Vol. 46: 624628
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to trace the transactions causing the suspicious aberration to the ultimate
buyer and seller of the stock. The final step consists of a determination of the
purposes for which these transactions were undertaken. But the character
of a particular purchase or sale does not appear on its surface; each is put
through on the floor of the exchange by agents who rarely have knowledge
of their principals' motives, and each has the same effect in raising or lower-
ing, or tending to raise or lower, the price of the security. The result is that
the ascertainment of a purpose to manipulate, as will be shown below, is in
itself an exceedingly difficult matter.

SUBSTANTIVE PROHIBITIONS OF THE EXCHANGE Ac?

The Securities Exchange Act"- is aimed as an integrated entity toward
reform of the security markets by control of speculation and protection of
the public against trading based on inside information and other abuses in
the market machinery.27 This comment will be limited to a consideration of
those sections of the Act which purport to be directly related to manipulation,
and the means provided for their enforcement, but it must be noted that
many provisions in the related divisions 'of the Act, as well as in the. Securities
Act of 1933,28 also affect manipulative practices.20

The key parts of the Exchange Act with respect to manipulation are Sec-
tions 9 and 10, which contain two types of provisions. Under one the Se-
curities and Exchange Commission is given power to issue regulations con-
cerning pegging operations,30 options,3 ' short sales and stop-loss orders,3 2

and manipulative devices not specifically prohibited by the Act. 3 This insures
administrative flexibility and permits the necessary investigation before at-
tempting regulation of those practices whose justification was regarded as
being still conjectural. Under the second type of provision certain manipu-
lative practices are outlawed outright. Subsection 9(a) (2) is an omnibus
prohibition making it unlawful "to effect, alone or with one or more other
persons, a series of transactions in any security registered on a national
securities exchange creating actual or apparent active trading in such security
or raising or depressing the price of such security, for the purpose of inducing

26. 48 STA. 88 1 (1934), 15 U. S. C. §78 (1934).
27. Hearings before Comidttee on BanHnig and Currency, op. cit. Mtpra note 7,

at 6465.
28. 48 STAT. 74 (1933), as amended by 48 STAT. 905 (1934) ; 15 U.S.C. § 77 (1934).
29. Thus, Section 11 of the Exchange Act empowers the Commission to establish

rules regarding the segregation of the functions of members, brokers, and dealers;
Section 12 requires informatioh coficerning options as a prerequisite for registration
of a security on an exchange. Subsection 17(b) of the Secuirities Act limits the activities
of tipster sheets. See note 56 infra.

30. §9(a)(6).
31. §9Ca)(6)(b).
32. § 10(a).
33. § 10(b).
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the purchase or sale of such security by others." The other prohibitions are
less inclusive and pertain to specific practices. Subsection 9(a) (1) makes
it unlawful for one to engage in transactions ini a security involving no change
in its beneficial ownership, or to enter orders to sell (or buy) a security with
the knowledge that some one else is entering an order to buy (or sell) the
same security at substantially the same time and price, if the transactions
are "for the purpose of creating a false or misleading appearance of active
trading in any security . . . or a false or misleading appearance with
respect to the market for any such security." By subsections 9(a) (3) and
9(a) (5) it becomes unlawful to induce the sale or purchase of a security by
circulating information that its price is to be affected by operations carried
on for that end, regardless of the veracity of the information or the purpose
for which it is given. Subsection 9 (a) (4) is a prohibition against statements
made by one selling or purchasing a security which he knew or had reason
to know were misleading as to any material fact. The statement must be
for the "purpose of inducing the purchase or sale of such security." Violation
of these provisions, with the exception of subsections 9(a) (3) and 9(a) (5),
thus consists of certain activities undertaken for various proscribed purposes.

Activity. The first problem in interpreting and administering the Act is
to determnine what kinds of activity are included within the prohibitions and
the methods of their proof. Subsection 9(a) (1) clearly defines washed sales
and matched orders. A question has risen, however, as to the degree of
knowledge required of the principals to a matched order. In its simplest
form, an order is matched when A, purchasing 100 shares of a security, knows
that B is concomitantly selling 100 shares at the same price, and B knows
that A is entering the purchase order s4 But the prohibition of the Act has
not been limited to this fundamental situation. In the first place, A violates
the Act when he alone has specific knowledge that the order will be matched,
as when A enters an order to purchase, with the knowledge that B is filling
all purchase orders as they reach the floor of the exchange85 Secondly, it
is unlawful to carry on this activity either directly or indirectly. Therefore A
may commit a violation even though he has no specific knowledge of the

34. A preliminary injunction for breach of § 9 (a) (1) was refused where the sole
evidence of knowledge consisted of a telephone call between the parties to the alleged
matched order shortly before the orders were crossed. The court stated that while
knowledge might be inferred, it was reluctant to grant the preliminary injunction* upon
the basis of contested affidavits. Securities and Exchange Commission v. Andrews, I
C. C. H. St. Exch. Regul. Serv. 18524 (S.D. N.Y. 1936).

35. This practice was termed a violation of the Act by the Trial Examiner in the
case of In the Matter of M.'J. Meehan, an action brought by the Commission under
§ 19(a) (3) of the Exchange Act to determine whether Meehan should b6 suspended or
expelled from the seats on the various exchanges of which he was a member because of
violation of §§ 9(a) (1) and 9(a) (2). [See p. 633 infra]. In the Matter of M. J. Meehan,
Report and Findings of Fact by the Trial Examiner, 54, 65.

[VCol. 46: 624 ,630
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particular matched order, if one or both of the parties to the order are in fact
his agents.30  I

Subsection 9(a) (4), prohibiting misrepresentations in the sale or pur-
chase of a security, raises no new problems in definition, for it is phrased
in terms which have a common law background.3 The measure as a whole
appears less inclusive than the corresponding section of the Securities Act 3s

in that it specifies that the misrepresentation must be made for a designated
purpose and places on the proponent of the action the burden of proving
that the defendant knew or had reasonable grounds to know that the mis-
representation was misleading. However, it serves to supplement that Act
by a provision for fraud in the purchase as well as in the sale of securities.
Its potentialities in curbing manipulation which cannot be reached by the
other provisions of the Exchange Act were indicated in a recent action
brought by the Commission to enjoin defendants from selling securities over-
the-counter on the basis of a market price which they manufactured through
their own trading3 9 The misrepresentation consisted in failing to reveal to
purchasers that the market quotation did not represent a true market -valuation
but had been established through the defendant's activity. This would clearly
seem to be a violation of the statute, but the court did not pass on the point
and denied a preliminary injunction on other grounds.40

Subsection 9(a) (2) was intended to prohibit pool activity as well as "every
other device used to persuade the public that activity in a security is the
reflection of a general demand instead of a mirage.' Thus, the phrase "to
effect a series of transactions" encompasses not only the purchases and sales

36. Ibid., at 55, 65. Another problem under Section 9(a) (1) may rise from the
requirement that the crossed orders must be placed at "substantially the same time" in
order to constitute a violation. A technical evasion is possible if A places an order to
cross a limited order, such as a G. T. C. (Good Till Cancelled) order, entered by B
several days before. However, where more than one such transaction has been effected,
the activity will usually be a violation of subsection 9(a) (2).

37. Gates v. Megargel, .266 Fed. 811 (C.C. A. 2d, 1920), cert. denied, 254 U. S.
639 (1920) ; Kllgore v. Bruce, 166 Mass. 136, 44 N. E 10S (1896) ; Mler v. Barber,
66 N. Y. 558 (1876); Seneca Wire & Manufacturing Co. v. A. B. Leach & Co., 247
N. Y 1, 159 N. . 700 (1928); Ottinger v. Bennett, 144 App. Div. 525, 129 N. Y.
Supp. 819 (Ist Dep't 1911), reVd, 203 N. Y. 544, 96 N. R_. 1123 (1911); Gilluly v.
Hosford, 45 Wash. 594, 88 Pac. 1027 (1907). See note 107 hifra.

38. § 12(a).
39. Securities and Fchange Commission v. Saphier, 1 C. C. I1 St. Ech. Regul.

Serv. f18529 (S. D. N. Y. 1936).
40. See p. 642 infra. This method of stock merchandising is said to have taken

over one billion dollars in the sale of the securities of the Cities Service Corporation.
Manipulation of this kind is particularly difficult to detect because of the relatively
small amount of trading required to control price fluctuations. Hearings before Coln-
mittee on Interstate and Foreign Commnercc, op. cit. supra note 9, at 833 cl seq.; Tm;-
SEcuTY m 'ts, op. cit. stpra note 2, at 474.

41. Sw. REP. No. 1455, op. cit. mipra note 3, at 54.

1937]
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of a security made directly by the person charged with violation of the Act
but also the purchases and sales of others which he effects by subsidization
of buying power, spread of rumors, or any other device undertaken for the
interdicted purpose of inducing others to purchase. The measure was given
this broad definition in the first case to interpret it. In Securities and Ex'-
change Commission v. Torr42 defendants Tort and Mann had an option to
buy more than 47,000 shares of stock at prices ranging from 3 to 3%. Other
defendants were paid a fee for securing purchase orders to be executed, on
the floor of the exchange. By selling the stock in this manner, and not to
purchasers directly, brokerage commissions were incurred by both buyer and
seller, and many of the purchase orders, obtained through the efforts of the
defendants, were filled by other sellers. The explanation of this circuitously
expensive method of distribution was that the orders induced by defendants
to be executed on the exchange were expected to raise the price and increase
the volume of trading, thus acting as bait for other purchasers. In an action
by the Commission for a preliminary injunction the defendants contended
that "section 9(a) (2) . . . cannot be construed to cover the alleged trans-
actions of these defendants" but was to be confined to the defendants' own
trading in the security.43 However, the injunction was granted on the ground
that the section aims to put an end to the creation of the appearance of trad-
ing by manipulative methods in order to secure more trading by the public,
which was admittedly what the defendants sought to accomplish by means
of a subsidized buying power.

The comprehensive sweep of subsection 9(a) (2) will be circumscribed,
however, until such time as the Commission exercises its power to regulate
stabilizing operations under subsection 9(a) (6). Since stabilization may be
construed to be for the purpose "of inducing others to purchase", it might
constitute a violation of subsection 9(a) (2); but stabilizing is permitted by
implication unless prohibited by the rules which may be promulgated under
subsection 9(a) (6). In actions brought for violation of subsection 9(a) (2),
the defense that the activity under attack was "stabilization", within 9 (a) (6),
should be restricted to stabilizations conducted for the business purposes
intended by Congress to be regulated by the Commission under 9(a) (6).
Since quotations are rarely fixed absolutely during stabilization, price fluc-
tuations per se may not indicate whether the activities are those prohibited
by subsection 9(a) (2) or those reserved for regulation by the Commission

42. 15 F. Supp. 315 (S.D. N.Y. 1936). The Circuit Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit, one Judge dissenting, reversed this decision after this comment went
to press. The court did not pass on the question of violation of subsection 9(a) (2)
but held, assuming that the activity was a violation, that the remedy of injunction was
unavailable. See note 90, infra. Judge Learned Hand dissented, and indicated further
that this activity constituted breach of the subsection. See N. Y. Herald-Tribune,
Jan. 19, 1937, p. 29, col. 1; N. Y. Times, Jan. 19, 1937, p. 31, col. 7.

43. Brief for defendants Torr and Mills, p. 17.

[Vol. 46: 624
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under subsection 9(a) (6). But fluctuations of a few points which are nor-
mal in the pegging of a high-priced security may point to irregularities in
the stabilization of a low-priced security, especially where the operator profits
from the fluctuations. Furthermore, although the stabilization may super-
ficially appear to be governed by subsection 9(a) (6), it may nevertheless
violate subsection 9(a) (2) if combined with other manipulative activity such
as a manufactured price rise. Since subsection 9(a) (6) does not countenance
such a mark-up, it seemg that a mark-up and stabilization would be un-
lawful under subsection 9(a) (2) as a single operation aimed at raising prices
and inducing others to purchase.

The activity prohibited by subsection 9(a) (2) may often be proved by
brokerage house records of the defendant's trading. But where the identity
of the actor is concealed, as in the Torr case, proof of the activity necessarily
becomes more difficult. In such instances a prima facie case may be made
by showing that the transactions leading to the activity can be traced to
individuals whose trading might be influenced by the defendant and that the
latter had some motive for desiring the activity. Thus, in an action against
M. J. Meehan for violation of both subsections 9(a) (1) and 9(a) (2) 4 the
Commission alleged that the respondent was responsible for two flurries in
trading in Bellanca Aircraft Corporation stock. The ne.'us between respondent
and purchasers was sought to be demonstrated by the fact that 13 of the 17
purchasers whose buying led to a doubling of the price in the first flurry
had probably been influenced by either Meehan or an alleged agent.4 5 It was
claimed that the motive for inducing the others to purchase and raise the
price was the respondent's desire to give the stock an exploratory touch to
determine whether it could be easily manipulated. But in view of the re-
spondent's reputation as a market operator and his virtual control of the
floating supply of Bellanca stock, it is reasonably doubtful whether the
activity can be attributed to him for this reason. However, it was shown
that many purchases in the second flurry could also be traced to Meehan,
and in this instance without driving down the price he was liquidating 30,000
shares of a stock which usually has a thin market.40 Thus, he had a definite
motive for desiring activity in Bellanca stock which would result in others!
entering the market, and stronger grounds for linking the activity to him
are presented than in the first case.

Pirpose. The second, and more troublesome, element in a cause of action
for breach of these sections is proof of illegal purpose. Thus, purchase of a
large amount of a stock by an individual desiring it for purposes of either

44. See supra note 35.
45. A majority of these purchasers were personal friends or men who had business

relations with the defendant and Devoe, the alleged agent, who told them that the stack
"might do better." Report and Findings of :act by the Trial EM.aminer, 27-30.

46. When a block of 3,500 shares was later thrown on the market which at that
time was unsupported, the price buckled from 4? to 2;. Brief in support of Trial
Examiner's Report, 6.
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investment or speculation may raise the price in the same manner that it
is forced up by a pool seeking public participation. The acts in each case
are objectively the same; the sole distinguishing feature is the purpose for
which they are undertaken, 47 and this is the Act's criterion of illegality. But
the legal meaning of the word as used in this connection has not been made
dear. In a prolonged discussion in the Congressional Committee Hearings
it was said to be synonomous with intent 48 It is apparent, however, that the
term is less inclusive than the specific intent of the criminal law which is
strictly defined as the knowledge which a reasonable man has, or should have
in the light of surrounding circumstances, that certain consequences will
follow as a result of his acts.49 The large speculator, buying heavily, might
be said to intend that others enter the market and buy also, since he can be
reasonably certain that this will be the result. Yet the Act was obviously
not intended to curb such activity. Furthermore, the fact that this conse-
quence is agreeable to tlhe trader is not the decisive element, since, although
he may know that others will enter the market and raise the price, thereby
increasing the paper value of his holdings, he does not necessarily carry on
the transaction for that end; this result may be incidental to his underlying
aim of securing a profit from anticipated price changes caused by the "natural"
forces which make prices. In the instance of manipulation, the principal
object, the immediate end to which the activity is directed is inducing others
to trade. It is this subjective difference in the primary objective that con-
stitutes the line, often a tenuous one, dividing the legal from the illegal50

Purpose must usually be proved by objective acts since the defendants
rarely will admit, as they did in the Torr case, that their purpose was an
illegal one. In some situations it may be inferred from the defendant's
activity, which in any case will be an essential part of a prima facie show-
ing, and which may often constitute such a showing without more. Thus,
in the famous Radio Pool the stock was accumulated, its price marked up,
and the holdings distributed through activity on the exchange.51 On the

47. The distinction is not a novel one. See opinion of LeBlanc, Y. in Rex v.
DeBerenger, 3 M. & S. 67 (K. B. 1814); Pujo Money Trust Investigation, op. cit.
supra note 9, at 872, 873.

48. See Hearings before the Committee on Banking and urrency, op. cit. 41upra
note 7, at 6510.

49. Cook, Act, Intention and Motive it; the Crinzinal Law (1917) 26 YALE L. J.
645; see Commonwealth v. Mash, 7 Metcalf 472, 474 (Mass. 1844). But see Abrams
v. United States, 250 U. S. 616, 627 (1919).

50. It was unnecessary to draw this distinction in the Torr case. The defendants
conceded that the purpose of their activity was to "broaden the market out" and induce
others to purchase. Aside from the question of fraud in representations to purchasers,
the practice of paying commissions to agents to secure purchasers is in itself harmless,
but where done for the purpose of inducing others to purchase, it is a violation of
§9(a) (2). Cf. The New York Times, Dec. 12, 1936, p. 27, col. 6.

51. T3na SEcupury MARmzs, op. cit. supra note 2, at 475 et seq.
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first day of operations the pool purchased 392,000 shares and sold 246,000,
and it continued to trade in like vein on the succeeding days of its short
but profitable existence 2 Activity of this kind is hardly to be reconciled
with any theory other than that which explains it as manipulation. But
often the transactions may be analyzed just ad reasonably by some theory of
legitimate conduct as by one of manipulation. In such instances a desirable
element of a prima fade case would be a showing of motive for manipulation
from which the defendant's probable purpose may be inferred.53 Proof of
motive may take the form of evidence of an option to take, or outright
control of, a large block of stock. A third possible element of a prima fade
showing would be proof of actual reliance on the defendant's activity by
others who purchased because of its impression on the ticker tape. This
last element would be useful to show that as a matter of fact the defendant's
trading did induce others to purchase, but it is not essential, since the Act
merely states that the activity must be undertaken for certain purposes
without requiring their consummation, nor does it possess weight except in
connection with a showing of the other elements, since in itself it offers no
clue as to whether the reliance by others is the direct aim of the defendant
or merely incidental to it.5

Purpose may also be evidenced by acts of the defendant which are
collateral to the alleged manipulation but which tend to show that the crucial
activity was undertaken for an illegal end. In the hearings before the Com-
mission in the Meehan case an attempt was made to prove that various
contracts of the respondent to purchase and underwrite Bellanca stock
could be pieced together as segments of a unified scheme of manipulation
while tIe respondent claimed that the contracts were evidence of an invest-
ment interest which motivated his entire conduct in relation to Bellanca
stock during this period.5q This method of proof is undoubtedly valid when
certain facts 'ustain a hypothesis whith in turn is used to define the sig-
nificance of other facts in the alleged sequence whose meaning is less clear.
However, such proof cannot be regarded as convincing where the premise

52. Ibid. The pool was organized on March 7, 1929 with 70 participants contributing
$12,683,000. 2,264,700 shares were traded in on the five days of the pool's active eist-
ence, and the profits were reported to be slightly less than $5,000,000.

53. Motive may be distinguished from the "purpose!' in the Exchange Act as the
ultimate end or aim of the activity rather than the immediate objective. It is said to be
the basic inducing cause which tempts the mind to establish an immediate, dependent
aim or purpose. See People v. Molineux, 163 N. Y. 264, 297, 61 N. E. 226, 295 (1901) ;
United Fidelity Life Ins. Co. v. Adair, 29 S. W. (2d) 940, 943 (Te.'. Civ. App. 1929).
Cf. State v. Walker, 109 W. Va. 351, 154 S. . 866 (1930).

54. Curiously enough, it is often difficult as a practical matter to obtain evidence
of such reliance, especially where the one duped is close to the market and takes pro-
fessional pride in his trading ability.

55. See Brief in Support of Trial E.Mximiner's Report, In the Matter of M 3.
Meehan, 21, 31, 37.
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on which it is based has a dubious foundation in the facts of the case. More-
over, the attempt to explain all of an individual's activity in a security as
being undertaken for an illegal purpose is likely to disregard the fact that
market traders may act for different purposes at different times. There
are numerous instances of directors with investment interests in. corpora-
tions who nevertheless engaged in occasional manipulative ventures; the
two are not necessarily mutually exclusive6: It is quite possible that Meehan
contracted to underwrite the proposed issue of Bellanca for legitimate rea-
sons and yet employed manipulative methods to dispose of the large holdings
which he controlled. It would seem that in most instances a more satis-
factory showing of purpose would be made by confining the proof to the
acts which are themselves alleged to be manipulative in character.

When a prima facie case has been presented, the respondent assumes the
burden of going forward and showing that the activity was undertaken for
some legal purpose. In light of evidence from which it ought reasonably be
inferred that he was engaged in a manipulative operation, it is not enough
for him merely to avow that his transactions were undertaken in pursuance
of a legal objective, but he must show that at the time of the activity they were
reasonably consistent with that objective. The fashion in which the issue
simmers down to the reasonableness of the conflicting hypotheses by which
the defendant's activity is sought to be explained may be illustrated by the
possible lines of argument indicated by the evidence presented in an action
brought for violation of subsection 9(a) (2).57 Tlhe respondents had an
option to take down a large block of stock at 55 which was to be sold off
the exchange. The price of such sales would necessarily be influenced by
the market quotation, a fact which points to a possible motive for manipula-
tion. They traded in the stock on both sides of the market and advised others
to purchase. Due at least in part to this activity the price rose from 42
to 70, thus enabling the respondents to dispose of part of the optioned
stock at a profit. The respondents contended that their ctivity was strictly
legitimate. They pointed to the improbability of their using their friends as
dupes in a manipulative scheme and to their own long position of over 2000
shares after the distribution of the optioned stock had been concluded. In-

56. Thus, the chairman of the governing board of the Chase National Bank engaged
in pool operations with the bank's stock. SEN. REP. No. 1455, op. cit. .uapra note 3,
at 62. The possibility of such duality of interest was conceded by the Commission's
attorneys in the Meehan case. See Reply Brief for Securities and Exchange Com-
mission, 4. This activity is now limited by Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

57. In the Matter of White, Weld Co. The action was brought under § 19(a) (3) [see
note 79, infra] for manipulation of A. 0. Smith stock. The material presented has been
taken from the report of the Trial Examiner who presided at the preliminary investi-
gation and the record of the final hearings under § 19(a) (3). The text is not intended
to present a complete abstract of the evidence or to appraise its persuasive effect. An
attempt has been made merely to indicate the nature of the issues which may be sig-
nificant in the search for purpose under subsection 9(a) (2).
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creased interest and activity in the stock during the period in which they
held the option was said to be due to the possibility of profitable contracts
resulting from a new patent. Their activity in purchasing the stock on the
exchange while attempting to dispose of the optioned stock over-the-counter
was justified on the ground that they considered the stock a worthwhile
investment but had promised the optioners that the optioned stock would be
sold to long-term investors and would not be taken on their own account.
The coincidence that they were also on the selling side of the market during
the period in which they were predominantly purchasers was explained as
an attempt to cheapen their investment position whenever possible. The Com-
mission's rebuttal may indicate inconsistencies in this rationalization of their
conduct. As oppo~ed to the contention that they could not have kept the
optioned stock for their own account but were compelled to purchase the stock
on the market, there was evidence that such purchases on the market were
made after respondent had notified the optioners, apparently without ob-
jection, that they were taking optioned stock for their own account and
also that one of the respondent partners had individually taken this stock in
what was alleged to be a violation of the spirit of the restrictive agreement.
And thus the trier is presented with two theories, each seeking to construct
a consistent explanation of the questioned activity in order to establish the
purpose for which it had been undertaken.

But in this contest of hypotheses it is hardly sufficient for the plaintiff
to present a plausible theory of manipulation. It has already been noted
that the respondents acts may be consistent with such a theory even though
they are undertaken for a legal purpose58 The ultimate burden of proof,
the quantum of which varies with the action, 0 is upon the proponent of
the action to show that its theory is by much the more reasonable one. This
point is well illustrated in Securities and Ex:change Commission v. Andrws
The Commission sought to enjoin the defendants, inter alia, from violating
subsection 9(a) (2) of the Exchange Act. The defendants had effected 435

58. See pp. 629 and 634 sipra.
59. The usual rules for the burden of proof will obtain in civil actions for damages

[see p. 646 infra] and criminal prosecutions [see p. 644 infra] brought under the Act.
A suit for injunction [see p. 642 infra] will depend upon a showing of imminence of
injury, irreparability of damage, and the various other canons upon the basis of which
this discretionary relief is granted. In actions brought against members of exchanges
under subsection 19(a) (3) [see p. 641 infra] the Commission's findings of fact must
be supported by "substantial evidence!' but no measure of persuasion is sp.eified. How-
ever, these actions are closely analogous to disbarment proceedings in which either the
civil measure or some more conclusive showing, such as proof to a reazonable cer-
tainty, but apparently rarely the burden of criminal actions, is required. In M Malmin.
364 IlL 164, 4 N. E. (2d) 111 (1936) (dear and convincing testimony); In re May-
berry, 3 N. E. (2d) 248 (Mass. 1936) (fair preponderance of the evidence); In re
Lemisch, 321 Pa. 110, 184 At. 72 (1936) (preponderance of the evidence but proof
must be clear and satisfactory).

60. 1 C. C. H. St. Exch. Regul. Serv. 8524 (S. D. N. Y. 1936).
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of the purchases in the security on the floor of the exchange during a stated
period, accounting for over 50% of the transactions on 29 of the 70 business
days in the period, creating a new high price on 38 of these days, and thus
aiding materially the acceleration in price from 84 to 243s. This activity
was submitted as proof of an illegal purpose in connection,with evidence of
operations in an earlier period in which the defendants had forced up the
price on the exchange while selling the stock over-the-counter. Thd defendants
explained their purchases as an investment in an expanding corporation
which had enjoyed a successful season. The court was reluctant to decide
the issue on the basis of affidavits alone and denied a preliminary injunction,
stating that "while the facts would permit the inference (of purpose) I can-
not find that this inference is an irresistible one." Thus, the Commission,
solely on the basis of affidavits, failed in this action to sustain its burden
of excluding the probability of any reasonable exculpatory explanation of
defendants' conduct.

Less difficulty should be experienced in proving purpose under subsec-
tions 9(a) (1) and 9(a) (4) than under 9(a) (2) since the activity prohibited
by these sections is less likely to occur for purposes other than the prohibited
ones. Thus, it is hard to resist the inference that when fraudulent state-
ments are made by one offering to sell a security, the statements are made
for the purpose of inducing purchase, and mere proof of such fraudulent
statement and the defendant's knowledge or a reasonable basis for knowledge
of its misleading character should be sufficient in an action for violation of
subsection 9(a) (4) to place upon the defendant the burden of going for.:
ward with the evidence.61 The specification of purpose in subsection 9(a) (1)
is not superfluous since it protects traders who are repeatedly in and out
the market for "scalping" profits and who often approach the zone of ques-
tionable activity, but not for an illegal purpose.02 Howeyer, repeated, or
even occasional, washed sales or matched orders are usually to be explained
only as attempts to create artificial activity, and the inference of purpose
flows from the acts. Similarly, a single matched order may be of such mo-
ml.nt as to render suspect any claim of legitimate purpose. Thus, in the
Meehan case an admitted crossing of orders of 4900 shares at the very
beginning of a period of liquidation in which it was dearly desirable to
create the appearance of activity in order to induce others to purchase was
found to be a violation of this subsection. 3

61. The specification of purpose was not included in the first draft of the Act
and, although considered unnecessary, was added at the behest of houses dealing in
investment information and publishers of standard manuals. Hearings before Commilee
on Banking and Currency, op. cit. supra note 7, at 6511.

62. Hearings before Committee on Banking and Currency, op. cit. sopra note 7, at
6512. A scalper is a market trader, who concentrates on the gain tQt be made from the
fractional primary fluctuations in security prices.

63. The defendants made no attempt to explain the matched order but argued that
a shrewd trader would have matched at a higher level in order to obtain a greater degree
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T E SAxcTIoNs OF THE ExcHANOG ACT

The Machinery of Enforcement. Statutory prohibition of manipulative
practices is in itself ineffective. One of the notable defects of previous at-
tempts to regulate manipulative practices was the absence of provision for
an administrative agency to police this activity." The Exchange Act reme-
dies this weakness by granting broad investigatory powers to the Securities
and Exchange Commission.05 Investigations are instituted as a result of
complaint by the public, disclosures in reports of security holdings required
of directors, officers, and large holders of registered securities, and the
detection of suspicious practices revealed by constant surveillance of the
ticker tapes of the larger exchanges.6" The Act then provides a compre-
hensive scheme of sanctions against those who violate its prohibitions. These
may be divided into two classes: those pertaining 'solely to members of
securities exchanges and those pertaining to others as well.

Exchange Regulation of Members' Practices. The Act seeks to preserve
the traditional self-government of the exchanges and thereby secure the
benefit of the exchanges' easy access to members' accounts and of the sum-
mary process by which members are punished for infraction of rules.6T The
New York Stock Exchange, which is by far the most important exchange c

of reliance by others. [Defendant's Brief 204-207. In the Matter of M. J. Meehan].
This defense is extremely doubtful in view of the significance which a professional trader
is said to attribute to an order of this size in a stock with a small capitalization. See
NmL, TAPE READN G AND ImEr TAcrics (1931) 113 et scq.

64. The earlier attempts at regulation were confined to the federal mail-fraud statute
[35 STAT. 1130 (1909), IS U.S. C. A. § 338 (1927)] and such state statutes as New Yorl's
so-called Martin Act [GEmmeL. BusnzEss LA w, §§ 352, 353]. That the federal act was
broad enough to cover frauds consisting of market manipulation is shown by United
States v. Brown, 79 F. (2d) 321 (C. C.A. 2d, 1935). And in a communication to the
Yale Law Journal, Nov. 25, 1936, Ambrose V. McCall, Assistant Attorney General of
the State of New York, in charge of the Bureau of Securities, writes that actions against
manipulators were also brought under the Martin Act. However, the continued pre-
valence of manipulation as revealed by the Congressional Hearings which led to the
Exchange Act demonstrated the inadequacy of these controls. Aside from the lack of a
continuous supervision, state regulation suffered from the ease with which manipulative
operations could be shifted to other states, while the mail fraud statute does not cover
operations in which the mails are not employed.

65. Section 21 grants the Commission power to investigate such activity as it deems
necessary in order to determine whether a violation has occurred or is about to occur.
For the purposes of these investigations the Commission may subpoena witnesses, and
require the production of necessary records and accounts. Cf. McMann -. Engel, 1 C. C. H.
St. Exch. Regul. Serv. ff 8568 (S. D. N. Y. 1936) ; Comment (1935) 44 YA= L. J. 319.

66. S. E. C., SEcoND A Amr. R oaR (1936) 14.
67. Article 17 of the Constitution of the New York Stock Exchange provides for

suspension or expulsion from membership of members found guilty of infraction of the
Exchange's rules. See the Roper-Dickinson Report, op. cit. supra note 3, at &

68. For the nine months preceding June 30, 1935 over 841 of the total market value
of all sales transacted on the 22 largest securities exchanges were transacted on the New
York Stock Exchange. See S. E. C. FmsT Airn AL RuonTr (1935) 87.
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began in 1932 to take effective steps to inhibit manipulative activity by
members. Rules have been voluntarily adopted to regulate the work of
specialists and the interests of members in pools and optionso while other
measures of the same nature have been accepted at the suggestion of the
Commission.70 Violation of these rules may be ascertained from the peri-
odical reports required of members, the discovery of suspicious situations by
the examination of members' books, and the Exchange's own continuous
observation of market prices.7 ' However, the Exchange is not alvays a
wholly disinterested arbiter in conflicts involving the interests of its mem-
bers.72 Furthermore, the standards of many of the smaller exchanges are
not so high as those of the New York Stock Exchange.13 The Commission
is therefore empowered to see that this power of self-regulation is used.
The exchanges are required to be registered with the Commission. 4 As a
condition of registration the rules of the exchange must contain provision
for disciplining members who violate "just and equitable principles of trade ;"
and violation of the Act or any regulation made pursuant to it is to be deemed
conduct inconsistent with such principles. 5 When an exchange fails to take
proper measures to secure members' compliance with these principles its
registration may be suspended or withdrawn.7" The Commission thus
has a nominal control over the exchanges' self-government, but the far-
reaching repercussions of suspension of trading on a large exchange make

69. Rules of the Governing Committee, N. Y. Stock Exchange, Ch. 14, §§ 4, 11, 12,
15. But § 15, outlawing pool operations, defines a pool operation as one intended to in-
fluence "unfairly" the market price of a security. However, even a rule of such unsatis-
factory vagueness represents a sharp contrast to the Exchange's earlier attitude of un-
concern with the "motives of men." Pujo Money Trust Investigation, op. cit. supra note
9, at 812 et seq.

70. These have been incorporated in the Rules of the Governing Committee, op. cit.
supra note 69, §§ 17-29. The Commission is empowered by § 19(4) (b) of the Exchange
Act to request the exchanges to modify their rules and practices and, in the event of their
failure to do so, to alter these rules by its own regulations.

71. Communication from Dean K. Worcester, Executive Vice-President of the New
York Stock Exchange, to the YALE LAW JOUR.NAL, November 27, 1936.

72. Thus, the counsel for the Senate Investigating Committee requested the Exchange
to examine activity in liquor stocks in 1933. The Exchange reported no evidence of
"activities which might have stimulated improperly the activity of these stocks." The
Senate Committee then undertook an independent investigation which led to a disclosure
of the flagrant abuses of such pools as that in American Commercial Alcohol stock. Smx.
REP. No. 1455, op. cit. mipra note 3, at 55 et seq.

73. See THE SECmITY MAnmcTs, op. cit. supra note 2, at 238. The President of the
San Francisco Mining Exchange is reported to have testified that wash sales and matched
orders, long outlawed on the New York Exchange, were not forbidden by the rules of
his Exchange. See Harris v. United States, 48 F. (2d) 771, 778 (C. C. A. 9th, 1931).

74. Section 5.
75. Section 6(4)(b). See New York Stock Exchange, Rules of the Governing Com-

mittee, op. cit. supra note 69, § 16.
76. Subsection 19(a) (1).
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it unlikely that this power will be employed. Since the Act provides for no
other action against exchanges which fail to punish recalcitrant members, 7T

the exchanges are for all practical purposes not subject to punishment for
abuse of their powers of self-regulation.

Actions by the Security and Exchange Commission against Exchange M nem-
bers. Members of securities exchanges are subject, however, to a more
severe control in the guise of actions brought by the Commission to suspend
or expel from membership on the exchanges those violating any provision
of the Act or regulation made under it."" Four actions of this dnd have
been instituted at the date of this writing, but none has reached a final
determination., 0 Formal proceedings which are patterned after those of the
Federal Trade Commission are initiated by a show cause order 80 After each
side has presented its case in hearings held before a Trial Examiner ap-
pointed by the Commission, the Examiner files a report consisting of specific
and summary findings of fact, and a final hearing on this report is held
before the Commission. If the latter's conclusion is unfavorable the aggrieved
party may appeal to the Circuit Court of Appeals. The findings of fact
are to be conclusive if supported by "substantial evidence," but the order
may be affirmed, modified, or set aside. It is not yet clear how scrupulously
the courts will treat such findings as final if supported by the evidence;
analogous findings by the Federal Trade Commission have been extensively
modified by the courts,81 but the terms of the Exchange Act with respect to
manipulation, unlike the vague standards of the Federal Trade Commission
Act, are on the whole pointedly defined so that findings of fact on these
issues should in each instance be addressed to the tangible rules of the sub-
sections, not to ambiguities of "unfair competition" which invite judicial
review. Unless the courts are willing to label some part of the record as

77. Section 32 subjects exchanges to fines for violation of any provision of the Act,
but the Section does not apply in this connection since the exchanges are placed under no
positive duty to police the Act. See Herlands, supra note 1, at 144.

78. Subsection 19(a) (3).
79. These include the Meehan and White Weld cases, stpra notes,35 and 57 re-

spectively. The other actions were brought against C. C. Wright for manipulation of
Kinner Aircraft stock and V. E. Hutton for manipulation of Atlas Tacd. At the time
of the alleged manipulation Bellanca and A. 0. Smith were listed on the New York Curb
Exchange, Atlas Tack on the New York Stock Exchange, and Kinner on the Los Angeles
Exchange.

80. For the show cause order in the Hutton case, see the New York Times, Nov. 14,
1936, p. 32, col. 2-6.

81. Federal Trade Commission v. Curtis Publishing Co., 260 U. S. 563 (1923);
Federal Trade Commisiion v. International Shoe Co., 280 U. S. 291 (1930). But cf.
Federal Trade Commission v. Algoma Lumber Co., 291 U. S. 67 (1934); Armand Co.
v. Federal Trade Commission, 78 F. (2d) 707 (C. C.A. 2d, 1935) ; Federal Trade Com-
mission v. Walker's New River Refining Co., 79 F. (2d) 457 (C. C.A. 4th, 1935). See
MCFARLAND, JU.ICLAL CONTROL OF Ta FEDERAL TRADE CO fSsIoZr AND TIK Eir,=a-
sTATE Co=.C E Commssiozr (1933) 20, 92 et seq.
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a constitutional fact, open to review as a matter of right, 2 the statutory rule
seems the most practical solution of the problem. The Commission's finding
that the respondent was engaged in a suspected activity for a prohibited pur-
pose is a judgment based on specialized knowledge and skilled analysis of
highly technical factual data. The records are too long to be conveniently
reviewed in detail by the courts;83 the limited form of judicial review con-
templated by the statute seems adequate to protect defendants against arbi-
trary action by the Commission, courts against an intolerable burden of
independent fact-finding, and the Commission against restrictive interfer-
ences with its freedom of procedure.

Injunction. The injunction promises to be the most effective sanction
available under the Act for proceeding against violations. 84 It is the only
direct method of preventing unlawful practices; the other controls may have
this effect only through their in terrorem operation. However, the efficacy
of the power to enjoin has been seriously impaired by the restrictive con-
struction placed upon its scope. The Act states that the Commission may
institute proceedings for an injunction when it appears that any person
"is engaged or about to engage" in unlawful practices. 85 The failure to pro-
vide for enjoining a person who "has engaged" in unlawful activity has pre-
cluded relief where a defendant claimed that he had ceased his activity in one
case seven months,8 6 and in another four and one half months,87 before the
filing of the bill. Under these holdings the defendant is enabled to desist
his practices upon receiving notice that they are being. investigated. As the
investigation usually covers a period of several'months, due to the nature
of the data and the critical analysis to which it must be subjected, the
defendant can answer the bill for injunction with the contention that the
unlawful practices have stopped and, therefore, cannot be enjoined. If the
injunction is denied, there is no effective bar to his resumption of the
manipulative activity; but if it is granted, he may be summarily cited for
contempt upon any future violation. The restricted interpretation of this
section places unwarranted emphasis on the significance of the omission
of the past tense, since the action is brought to enjoin not accomplished
activity but threatened future violations. 88 Furthermore, where the de-
fendant is shown to have violated the Act and still possesses the means

82. Crowell v. Benson, 285 U. S. 22 (1932); St Joseph Stock Yards Co. v. United
States, 298 U. S. 38 (1936); Comment (1936) 50 HAnv. L. Rsv. 78.

83. Thus, the record in the Meehan case consists of almost 6000 pages, and the
exhibits total 3000 more.

84. Subsection 21(e).
85." Ibid. But see note 88 infra.
86. Securities and Exchange Commission v. Downs (oral opinion) (U. S. Dist.

Ct., Colo., Feb. 12, 1936).
87. Securities and Exchange Commission v. Oliver & Co. (oral opinion) (U. S.

Dist. Ct., N. D. IIl., June 5, 1936).
88. Although the Federal Trade Commission Act and the Martin Act specify

that a defendant may be enjoined from activity in which he has engaged, relief has
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for further manipulation,8 9 the burden should be upon him to convince the
court that his earlier behavior will not be resumed. In the Torr case the
court answered the defendant's clan that the unlawful activity had been
discontinued with the statement that "there is no assurance that former
activities will not be resumed if the suit can be defeated.2'"

It may appear, and it has been held in other connections, that where
the defendant claims to have desisted from his illegal activity and has no
intention of resuming it, he should not contest an action for injunction
since by his own admission it cannot injure him.01 But this argument does
not apply to certain individuals governed by the Exchange Act. Those
whose business depends upon the confidence and trust of the public would
be seriously affected by the implication of guilt of illegal practices which

been denied where the activity had ceased and there was little probability of its re-
currence. Silver Co. v. Federal Trade Commission, 292 Fed. 752 (C. C.A. 6th, 1923);
Winston Co. v. Federal Trade Commission, 3 F. (2d) 961 (C. CA. 3d, 1925); Federal
Trade Commission v. Civil Service Training Bureau, 79 F. (2d) 113 (C. C.A. 6th,
1935); People v. New York City Air Port, 143 Misc. 472, 256 N. Y. Supp. S9 (Sup.
Ct 1931).

Similarly, an injunction was denied where the corporation whose stock was nianipu-
lated had been liquidated and the manipulator had left the country. Securities and
Fxchange Commission v. Stock Market Finance Inc., 3 C. C. L Stocks and Bonds
Law Serv. f" 8550 (S. D. N. Y. 1935).

89. Wallace v. Cutten, 293 U. S. 229 (1936) may be distinguished on this point.
The Grain Futures Act empowered the Secretary of Agriculture to suspend from
trading facilities any individual who "is violating any provision of the Ace' or "is at-
tempting" to manipulate on a commodities exchange. The sole question wts whether
this punishment could be meted out to Cutten for acts which had terminated; there was
no issue as to the prevention of future activity of the same kind.

90. Securities and Fxchange Commission v. Torr, 15 F. Supp. 315, at 320 (S. D.
N. Y. 1936). But the Circuit Court of Appeals, narrowly interpreting the "unambigu-
ous language of the statute" and following the doubtful authority of the Culte); case in
the Circuit Court [see note S9 and text .supra] reversed the decision of the District
Court. See note 42, supra. The Circuit Court also emphasized the defendants' good
faith as evidenced by alleged reliance on an interpretation by a subordinate official of
the Commission to the effect that the actvity would not constitute violation of the Act.
Judge Learned Hand, in dissent, approved the District Court's exercise of discretion.

But cf. Securities and Exchange Commission v. Saphier, 1 C. C. H. St F_ch. Regul.
Serv. 118529 (S. D. N. Y. 1936). A temporary injunction was denied although the
defendants had not ceased their allegedly illegal practices until after an investigation had
been begun. However, there was serious dispute as to the facts constituting illegal
manipulation and the court was hesitant to grant preliminary relief in the absence
of a clearer showing of its need during the pendercy of the suit for permanent in-
junction. An injunction pendente lite for the defendantes conceded violation of § 5(a) of
the Securities Act of 1933 was also denied on the same ground. But the court specified
that the action by the Commission against these defendants for a permanent injunction
might well be granted a preference on the trial calendar.

91. See General Electric Co. v. N. E. Electric Manu. Co., 123 Fed. 73S, 740 (C. C.A.
2d, 1904); Vaughan v. Winston Co., 83 F. (2d) 370, 374 (C. C. A. 10th, 1936); c.
Securities and Exchange Commission v. Otis & Co., U. S. Dist. Ct Dec. 23, 1936 (N. D.
Ohio).
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accompanies the granting of an injunction. But even more drastically in-
jured would be the dealers or brokers trading over-the-counter who must
be registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as a condition
of doing business.92 The registration may be revoked and the defendant
put out of business whenever such a dealer or broker has. been enjoined
from any conduct relating to the sale or purchase of securities. 93 The pos-
sibility that these incidental consequences will befall the defendant should
not matter technically, since the Commission must in any event sustain the
burden of proving the grounds for an injunction. 4 Nevertheless, it is prob-
able that a clearer showing will be required in these cases than in an action
to enjoin one who will not be so affected.

The Commission may also be handicapped in securing injunctive relief by
the intrinsic nature of the activity sought to be terminated, for often ade-
quate grounds cannot be made out until after the manipulative operation has
been completed, and the injunction rendered useless to prevent the particular
series of transactions. This may occur when the manipulation consists of
accumulation of stock at low prices for distribution at higher levels. The
Commission may be reasonably certain that the indications point to such
a "jiggle" and its consequent losses to the trading public. But if an action
is brought to prevent this, it will be defeated by the Commission's inability
to prove violation, or even threatened violation, since the defendant can
usually explain his activity by some legitimate and, in light of all events up
to that time, reasonable hypothesis.0 5 If the Commission tarries in order to
obtain the evidence, the "jiggle" may be accomplished before an injunction
is obtained.. The difficulty seems inherent in the use of the judicial process
to prevent such activity, and it is possible that effective -enforcement will
have to be based on some more summary procedure.

Criminal Penalties. Section 32 provides criminal penalties of fine and im-
prisonment for willful violation of the provisions of the Act. 0 But this form
of relief promises to be less satisfactory than the injunction as a weapon
for enforcement. Since the Commission cannot bring criminal prosecutions

92. Securities and Exchange Commission, lules and Regulations under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (May 29, 1936) Rule MA 1.

93. Ibid., Rule MA 5. But see Securities and Exchange Commission v. Otis & Co.,
U. S. Dist. Ct. Dec. 28, 1936 (N. D. Ohio).

94. On the other hand, the visitation of these penalties upon one who has been en-
joined from a violation of the Act makes the injunction an effective penalty, as well as
a deterrent of manipulation.

95. The Commission undoubtedly expected a "jiggle" in the Andrews case (p. 637
supra] but at the time of the filing of the bill the defendant's activity had been almost
entirely on the buying side of the market so that his claim of an investment interest in
the corporation could not be disproved by the activity itself.

96. Penalty for violation of a regulation under the Act is limited to fine, if the de-
fendant can prove that he had no knowledge of the regulation. See generally, Herlands,
supra note 1, at 149.
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in its own name, the case must be turned over to the Department of justice.
This creates the unsatisfactory condition of having one body prepare the
materials for prosecution while another department tries the case. Also,
criminal actions are likely to be long and extended affairs, enshrouded with
a multitude of technical safeguards for the protection of defendants. The
greatest difficulty, however, is the necessity of proving "willful" violation of
the Act. Precisely what further mental element this requirement adds to
the "purpose" which the defendant must have in order to make his activity
a violation is not clear. The Congressional Committee Hearings cast no light
on this matter since discussion engendered there by- this term merely repro-
duced the prevailing judicial uncertainty. 7 The Federal Courts have not in-
clined toward alleviation of the prosecution's burden in proving willfulness and
interpret the term to mean a "knowledge and a purpose to do wrong," rather
than the intent to do the act.93 These factors do not present insuperable
obstacles,90 but it is unlikely that the criminal penalties will be used as fre-
quently as the injunction.'00

Voiding of Contracts. Section 29 may serve to hinder pool activity. This
provision voids all contracts the performance of which involves a violation of
the Act. There have been many instances of bad faith between members of
pools and others engaged in manipulative activity so that those contemplating
joint ventures for this purpose may well be deterred by the lifting of the
judicial sanction which their agreements had for the most part formerly
enjoyed. -0 ' This Section also strikes at manipulation by making void all

97. Hearings before Coninfttee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, supra note 9,
at 112.

98. The cases are collected in United States v. Murdock, 290 U. S. 389 (1933). But
cf. People v. Marcus, 261 N. Y. 268, 1S5 N. E. 97 (1933).

99. The first conviction for violation of § 9(a) (2) is reported in the N. Y. Herald-
Tribune, Dec. 4, 1936, p. 4, col. 3; 4. Also, joinder in the same indictment of charges
under the Exchange Act and under the mail-fraud statute will undoubtedly be allowed.
See United States v. Alluan 13 F. Supp. 289, 291 (N. D. Te. 1936) ; United States v.
Bogy, 16 F. Supp. 407, 410 (W. D. Tenn. 1936).

100. See Herlands, supra, note 1, at 196 for discussion of the comparative use of the
injunction and criminal penalties under the Martin Act,

101. See cases cited in Moore and Wiseman, supra note 1, at 67 ct s q. But this pro-
tection has not always been accorded. Agreements to corner are considered illegal and
are unenforceable. Lane v. Leiter, 237 Fed. 149 (C. C.A. 7th, 1916) (commodities);
Sampson v. Shaw, 101 Mass. 145 (1869) (securities). Other agreements involving
manipulative activity have also been held unenforceable. Harper v. Crenshaw, 82 F. (2d)
845 (App. D. C. 1936) ; Livermore v. Bushnell, 5 RHn 285 (Ist Dep't 1875) ; Ridgely v.
Keene, 134 App. Div. 647, 119 N. Y. Supp. 451 (2d Dep't 1909). The Harter opinion
goes beyond the widely praised opinion in United States v. Brown, 5 F. Supp. 81 (S. D.
N. Y. 1933) in its condemnation of manipulation. In the Brosn case the defendants'
demurrer to an indictment f6r violation of the mail fraud statute vas overruled, but the
court indicated that manipulation might be legal if it did not pass the lne of "absolute
fair dealing" In the Harper case a bill for accounting and incidental relief brought
against other members by a participant in a pool which had "sponsored' a stocl: was dis-
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loans or extensions of credit where the lender has actual knowledge that the
proceeds are to be used to violate the provisions of the Act.

Civil Liability. The framers of the Act intended that subsection 9(e),
which imposes civil liability upon violators of. the sections prohibiting manip-
ulation or regulations made pursuant to them, would operate to dissuade
manipulative activity as well as to provide compensation for those who had
suffered losses therefrom.10 2 The attainment of this end is sought by easing
the burden of plaintiffs in civil actions for damages. Thus, the prohibited
activity is defined by the Act and not susceptible to the varying definitions
given the scope of the common law action of deceit.10 3 Also, plaintiffs are
not required to prove reliance upon the defendant's operations but merely
that they bought or sold the security while it was affected by his practices.
But this subsection provides no easy avenue to recovery. Strike suits are
made hazardous by a provision .permitting the court in its discretion to
impose reasonable costs, including attorney's fees, against either party.
Actions must be brought within a year of the discovery of the facts con-
stituting the violation or, in any event, within three years of the violation.
This double-pronged Statute of Limitations represents alcompromise adopted
to prevent actions from being brought long after the violation and yet gives
cognizance to the fact that it is often difficult to apprehend the activity until
some time, after it has been concluded.0i° Furthermore, a definite bar is
established by the requirement thit the defendant be shown to have "will-
fully" participated in the violation. 0 5

But aside from the language of this measure, it seems that as a practical
matter the threat of civil liability will have little appreciable effect in curbing
manipulation. There is no provision for a representative actionr which would
permif the sharing of costs among those who might find it prohibitively
expensive to seek recovery in an individual actioA requiring so complex a
type of proof.'05 Finally, this subsection will not even possess potential force
unless defrauded members" of the public are assisted in securing proof of
violation. Inability to secure evidence constituting a cause of action was
undoubtedly a principle reason why so few actions were brought against
manipulators under the common law. 0 7 For these reasons the threat of civil

missed as against public policy without inquiry into the reasonableness or "fairness" of
the manipulation. Two judges dissented.

102. Hearings before Committee on Banking and Currency, op. cit. mipra note 7, at
6518.

103. See Shulman, Civil Liability and the Securities Act (1933) 43 Y.E L. J. 227.
104. 78 Cong. Rec. 8200 (1934).
105. See p. 645 mepra.
106. Cf. Shulman, supra note 103, at 251; Brown v. Werblin, 138 Misc. 29, 244 N. Y.

Supp. 209 (Sup. Ct 1930) (Class suit held unavailable in common law suit against alleged
manipulators).

107. Recovery granted: cf. Singleton v. Harriman, 152 Misc. 323, 272 N. Y. Supp. 905
(Sup. Ct. 1933) ; McElroy v. Harnack, 213 Pa. 444, 63 At. 127 (1906). Contra: McGlynn
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